Filed 08-26-2024

FILED 08-26-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2023AP396-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

LOGAN T. KRUCKENBERG ANDERSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2796 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kumferle@doj.state.wi.us

INTRODUCTION

The State petitions this Court for review of a published court of appeals' decision suppressing statements made by Logan Kruckenberg, then 16 years old, to law enforcement officers. Kruckenberg confessed to killing his newborn daughter within 25 minutes of questioning beginning, after repeated assurances he was free to leave, the investigating agent remaining calm and respectful, the presence of his guardian when he requested her, and no lengthy period of questioning without gaps, including hours when he was not at any police station.

In concluding that Kruckenberg's confession was coerced, the court of appeals looked at Kruckenberg's "personal characteristics" and noted his lack of experience with law enforcement, physical, mental, and emotional condition, and lack of advocacy from his guardian against cooperating with police. It then pointed to several features of the interview itself: (1) the police contacts altogether, while broken up for significant periods, took place over more than 26 hours; (2) Kruckenberg was not given *Miranda* warnings, even though he was not in custody; (3) the agent was adamant that Kruckenberg was lying; (4) the agent leveraged the presence of Kruckenberg's adult guardian; (5) the agent suggested that he was there to help Kruckenberg; and (6) the agent made moral and emotional appeals to him, including a desire to "give that precious child . . a proper burial," taking Kruckenberg's hand.

The interview features identified by the court have been treated by this Court and others as non-coercive police questioning, and in this case they took place over the course of only five minutes of the interview. The question is whether these accepted techniques become coercive if the defendant is under 18. Review is needed because the opinion leaves law enforcement directionless when interviewing a juvenile; it does not provide a guidepost that law enforcement and other courts can follow.

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

During a search for a missing newborn, police questioned the baby's 16-year-old father about what happened to her. He gave a fantastic story about giving her to a person he knew from SnapChat to take her to an adoption agency. After listening to everything Kruckenberg had to say, the interviewing agent refused to accept that story and implored Kruckenberg to tell him the truth about where she was. Kruckenberg asked his guardian¹ to leave the room, and the agent took his hand, told him he was doing the right thing, and that his child should have a proper burial. Kruckenberg then admitted to leaving her in the woods to die. In a later interview, confronted with the fact that bullet wounds were found in her skull, he confessed to shooting her.

The court of appeals found that Kruckenberg's statements admitting that he left her in the woods were involuntary because (1) all the interviews together, while broken up for significant periods, took place over more than 26 hours; (2) Kruckenberg was not given *Miranda* warnings, even though he was not in custody; (3) the agent was at times confrontational and accusatory; (4) the agent leveraged the presence of Kruckenberg's guardian; (5) the agent suggested that he was there to help Kruckenberg; and (6) the agent made moral and emotional appeals to him, including a desire

¹ The adult who Kruckenberg requested be present for the interview, "Delores," is not his legal guardian. Kruckenberg lives with Delores and her family during the week rather than at his mother's house. For simplicity, the State refers to Delores as Kruckenberg's "guardian" here.

to "give that precious child . . a proper burial," taking Kruckenberg's hand.

Was the totality of these circumstances enough to render his confession involuntary?

STATEMENT OF CRITERIA SUPPORTING REVIEW

1. The issue presented by this petition presents a "real and significant question of federal . . . constitutional law." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(a). Specifically, this case involves the legal standards for determining what type of circumstances amount to "police coercion" sufficient to render a juvenile's confession involuntary.

2. This question is needing clarification, given the court of appeals' publication of this opinion. The opinion works a serious detriment in consistency in the law in this area because it is in conflict with controlling opinions of the United States Supreme Court, this Court, and other court of appeals' decisions. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(d). Law enforcement is left with no clear direction on what is and is not permissible when interviewing young people—particularly one like Kruckenberg who was nearly 17—and both law enforcement and lower courts will be bound to somehow follow both this opinion and the substantial body of case law seemingly pointing in the opposite direction on how to resolve this question. The issues are thus "of the type that [are] likely to recur unless resolved by the supreme court." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)3.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As with most confession cases, the facts necessary to assessing the voluntariness of Kruckenberg's statements are extensive, and are condensed here for the purposes of this petition.²

Police are called about a missing infant. Around 1:30 a.m. on January 9, 2021, Green County Sheriff's Deputy Derek Whitcomb responded to a call from Mark P.³, Lauren P.'s father, who said that his family had just learned that 14-year-old Lauren gave birth in his residence four days earlier. (110:11–78.) Mark reported that Lauren's 16-year-old boyfriend, Kruckenberg, had apparently taken the baby and the baby had not been seen since. (110:2.)

Kruckenberg's interview at his girlfriend's home. Whitcomb and Deputy Zachary Degner spoke with Kruckenberg, Lauren, and Lauren's family. (110:2–13, 49.) Lauren had named the baby "Heather." (110:69.) Kruckenberg said he had given the baby to "Tyler," a man whom Kruckenberg said he had met through SnapChat, and whose last name Kruckenberg did not know. (2:2; 110:5–6, 14–15.) Kruckenberg said he met Tyler at a park in Albany a few hours after the baby's birth and gave him \$60 to take her to an adoption agency in Madison. (110:6–7, 16.)

Kruckenberg's first interview at the Albany Police Department. About eight hours later, Detective Christopher Fiez and Albany Police Chief Robert Ritter went to Delores F.'s house, with whom Kruckenberg lived during the week, seeking more information. (126:17.) Kruckenberg agreed to answer some questions at the Albany PD. (126:18– 19.) Fiez clarified that Kruckenberg was not in any trouble or

 $^{^2}$ All of the interviews were recorded and videos of each of them are in the record. The State provides transcripts of them in its appendix, but believes the recordings are much better descriptors of what occurred here. They are found principally at R. 190 and 192.

³ Because several relevant people in this case are juveniles, the State uses pseudonyms for all of the non-law-enforcement persons apart from the defendant.

under arrest. (112:9.) Ritter beseeched Kruckenberg to tell them if something else happened and to help them locate Heather or "Tyler." (112:33–36.) Kruckenberg said he was telling them everything he knew. (112:34.) He also complained to those officers that he had not slept or eaten over the past three days and that he was having stomach pains due to stress and being "pissed" if "Tyler" did anything to the baby. (192; 113:1; 114:1–2.)

The interaction lasted about three hours (112; 113; 114; 192), and Delores picked Kruckenberg up from the station around 5:00 p.m. (126:81.)

Kruckenberg's interview at the Brodhead Police Department. Six hours later, as no trace of "Tyler" or the newborn was found, several officers were dispatched to Delores's house to ask permission to search it. (134:6.) This included DOJ's Division of Criminal Investigation Agent James Pertzborn and FBI Agent Brian Baker, not present at the earlier interviews with Kruckenberg. They asked if Kruckenberg was willing to answer some follow-up questions at the Brodhead PD; it was less crowded and had a dedicated recorded interview room. (124:8-18; 193 (Jan. 09 video) 45:14–46:00.) Kruckenberg agreed and requested that Delores come, too. (124:16–17.) The agents said "[a]bsolutely" Kruckenberg went with Pertzborn and Baker, in an unmarked Chevy Tahoe, to Brodhead PD; Delores got dressed and followed separately. (124:17-19; 193 (Jan. 09 video) 02:16–3:00.) On the way, Pertzborn said they would wait for Delores before talking about the baby, that Kruckenberg was not in custody, that he was free to leave, and he did not have to answer any questions. (124:23–24.) Kruckenberg said he would talk to anyone who would help find Heather. (124:24.)

Once at the Brodhead PD, Pertzborn, Kruckenberg, and Agent Baker were led to the interview room directly in front of the front door. (123:27.) The exit to the lobby was clear and the room was a "[s]oft interview room"—no restraints or places to fasten restraints, no bars on the doors, nor anything where someone could be secured. (123:29-30; 190 12:04:26-12:04:30.) Kruckenberg was not frisked, handcuffed, or restrained in any way. (190 12:06:01-12:06:42.) Pertzborn removed his police vest, thanked Kruckenberg for being willing to talk to them, and offered Kruckenberg something to drink. (115:1-2; 190 12:06:41-12:09:07.) The doors to the interview room remained unlocked. (123:30.) Pertzborn again assured Kruckenberg that they would not discuss anything without Delores, and other than asking him if a phone they found at his mother's house⁴ was his, they made small talk until Delores arrived. (115:1–25; 190 12:06:42–12:40:13.) The atmosphere remained cordial. even friendly, with Kruckenberg telling stories and laughing. (115:1-25; 190 12:06:42-12:40:13.)

Delores arrived around 12:40 a.m., January 10. (115:25; 190 12:40:16.) She sat next to Kruckenberg and Pertzborn again advised them: (1) that the interview was being recorded and where the camera was $(190\ 12:40:49-12:41:00)$; (2) that he was with the DOJ Department of Criminal Investigation, and who Agent Baker was (190 12:41:40-12:42:05); (3) that Delores should "feel free to jump in at any time" (190 12:42:06-12:42:09); and (4) that Kruckenberg "is not under arrest, he does not have to talk to me," and he "just can leave at any time, you guys can pick up and leave, if you'd like" (115:26; 190 12:42:09–12:42:20). Kruckenberg and Delores said they understood. (190 12:42:20-12:42:24.) Delores then told Kruckenberg that she "recommend[s] talking to them" to which Kruckenberg replied, "yeah, I know." (115:26; 190 12:42:22–12:42:25.) Pertzborn said he recommended talking to him too because he was in a position to help, asked if either of them had any questions before the interview began, and they both said no. (115:26–27; 190 12:42:25–12:43:43.)

⁴ This is a different location than Delores's house.

Pertzborn asked if Kruckenberg knew why Pertzborn needed to talk to him, and Kruckenberg said yes, "because... we have no idea where that child is," and Pertzborn said "no, some of us do, but what I want you to do is talk to me. Alright? And walk me through this. Alright? How we got to this point. That's what I need you to do." (115:28; 190 12:45:10–12:45:30.) Kruckenberg asked if Pertzborn wanted him to start the day Heather was born, and Pertzborn replied,

We can start wherever you feel we need to start, but I want you to know there's a whole bunch of information that we have, and we have done a whole lot of background on stuff and I always tell everybody if you are going to talk to me, I can work with anything but I need you to have kind of an understanding I really need you to be honest with me. Alright, otherwise we are just wasting our time and we don't need that at all. Alright? Alright, go ahead.

(115:28; 190 12:45:32–12:46:05.)

Kruckenberg said he bought Lauren a pregnancy test a few weeks previously but that Lauren did not tell him the result until the day Heather was born. (115:29.) They discussed what to do because they did not want to keep the baby and Lauren did not want anyone to know she gave birth, including her parents. (115:29-31; 190 12:49:01-12:50:30.) He said they landed on adoption, and he texted Tyler. (115:31; 190 12:51:07-12:51:22.) Pertzborn asked for details about Tyler; Kruckenberg maintained that he met Tyler through SnapChat and did not know his last name, that Tyler was mixed race and about 23 to 24 years old, heavyset, lived in Brodhead with his mixed-race girlfriend, drove a Chevy Equinox, and that they had played darts and pool together about 18 times. (115:31-35; 190 12:51:23-12:55:13.) Delores looked incredulous, and Pertzborn asked Delores if she'd ever heard of Tyler; she said no. (115:35; 190 12:55:15-12:55:20.)

Pertzborn said he needed to interrupt because he knew Kruckenberg was not being truthful, and he needed to tell the truth or Pertzborn could not help him. (115:35-37; 190 12:55:28-12:56:01.) Delores also repeatedly urged Kruckenberg to tell the truth and that she, too, could not help him otherwise. (115:35–37; 190 12:55:59–12:59:41.) Pertzborn said he was glad Delores was there because she knew Kruckenberg better than he did, and explained that Pertzborn knew this was not true because no one contacted in Brodhead had ever heard of Tyler or his girlfriend or had ever seen their vehicle. (115:36-37:19012:57:15–12:58:47.) He told Kruckenberg they were going to do everything they could to help him "[b]ut we can't do this anymore. We can't do the lies. I can't possibly, I can't possibly do that. Alright?" (115:36–37.) Kruckenberg said he was telling the truth and Pertzborn said he was not, and "I think you know it and we know it." (115:37.) Pertzborn said there were people who realize they've done something wrong and feel bad about it and people who are "just evil about it, they don't give a shit. What type of person are you?" (115:37.) Kruckenberg said he cared, and Pertzborn replied, "[y]ou do care. That's why you're being given this opportunity to talk to me about this... Don't blow that chance. Okay? Please, you are not a bad person." (115:37.) Pertzborn asked "[c]an we just start over and do the right thing here?" $(190\ 1:00:53-1:00:57.)$

At about 1:00 a.m., 20 minutes after the questioning began, Kruckenberg asked if he could talk to Pertzborn, oneon-one. (115:38; 190 1:00:58–1:01:16.) Pertzborn said "absolutely" and thanked Kruckenberg. (115:38; 190 1:01:17.) Delores and Agent Baker left the room. (115:38; 190 1:01:20– 1:01:45.) Pertzborn gave Kruckenberg another water and took Kruckenberg's hand, told him he was going to help him through this and he knew Kruckenberg was scared, but they would "just work on fixing it from here." (115:38; 190 1:01:20– 1:02:09.) Kruckenberg asked what was going to happen, and Pertzborn said he didn't know, but he'd be able to write a report saying Kruckenberg was apologetic. (115:38; 190 1:02:10–1:02:32.) Pertzborn then said "[w]e need to do a couple things. We need to bury, give that precious child of yours, a proper burial." (115:38; 190 1:02:33–1:02:41.) Kruckenberg said, "[a] burial. Yeah." (115:38; 190 1:02:41.) Pertzborn said they needed to recover her body, and Kruckenberg asked him to open Google maps. (115:38–39; 190 1:02:42–1:03:02.)

Kruckenberg described a park in Albany and said he and a "friend" buried Heather in the snow. (190 1:03:02– 1:07:26.) Pertzborn then had Kruckenberg go through the morning of January 5. This time, Kruckenberg claimed his friend "Alex" was involved. (190 1:09:12–1:09:56.) Kruckenberg stopped and asked if he could give Delores a hug, and Pertzborn replied, "of course." (190 1:10:00–1:10:07.) Delores hugged Kruckenberg and told him everyone still loved him. (190 1:10:08–1:11:03.) Kruckenberg took a bathroom break and the interview resumed. (190 1:11:14–1:13:57.)

Kruckenberg said when the baby arrived, they "just needed it out of our lives." (190 1:18:42–1:26:20.) He put the baby in a backpack and started walking when he saw Alex. (190 1:19:24–1:34:04.) He asked Alex to drive him to Madison to surrender the baby, but Alex refused and suggested Kruckenberg abandon her in the woods. (190 1:34:04– 1:41:43.) Kruckenberg said he then walked into the woods, took Heather out of the backpack and laid her in a hollow log, and she began to cry. (190 1:41:43–1:42:17.) He said he covered her with snow and left, knowing she would die. (190 1:42:05–1:43:35.)

Pertzborn thanked him, and he hoped Kruckenberg felt better telling the truth. (190 1:45:10–1:45:40.) He asked Kruckenberg to take them to Heather's body, and Kruckenberg said he would as long as he did not have to see her. Pertzborn said that was fine. (190 1:45:33–1:45:40.) Kruckenberg asked if he could ride with Delores and Pertzborn said no, but clarified that Kruckenberg was not in custody; it was so Kruckenberg could direct him to the right location, and Pertzborn asked if that was alright. (190 1:45:47–1:46:17.) Kruckenberg replied, "I'm perfectly fine with it." (190 1:46:06–1:46:17.) The interview ended and Pertzborn thanked Kruckenberg again and asked if he was okay, and Kruckenberg replied that he was. (190 1:46:28– 1:46:32.)

Kruckenberg got back into the front of the Tahoe and directed Pertzborn to Ruben's Cave Drive. (124:48–49.) Kruckenberg located his footprints in the snow. (124:49.) Pertzborn and other officers followed Kruckenberg's footprints until they located Heather's body. (124:51; 193 (Jan. 10 video) 00:00–07:07; 194.)

Kruckenberg's second interview at the Albany Police Department. Pertzborn returned to the car and told Kruckenberg he had some further questions, but again that he was not under arrest and was under no obligation to talk. (124:51–52.) Kruckenberg agreed, and they went to the Albany PD. (124:52.) Pertzborn asked if Kruckenberg wanted Delores to join them, and Kruckenberg said no; he found it too difficult to talk about Heather in front of Delores. (124:53.) Once there, Kruckenberg said he left the baby in the woods to die and confirmed that everything he'd said about Tyler was a lie. (116:20, 23–25; 195 AMBA0196–203.) About 40 minutes later, Green County Sheriff officers arrested Kruckenberg. (196:23–24.)

Kruckenberg's interviews after his arrest. After police recovered Heather's body, they discovered someone had shot her twice in the head. (117:42–47.) During a *Mirandized* interview at the Rock County Juvenile Detention Center, Kruckenberg confessed that he actually shot Heather. (117:42–47.) Details from that interview conflicted with other evidence collected, so Pertzborn and Agent Brian Hawley spoke to Kruckenberg the next day. (118:3–4.) Pertzborn told him that his friend Gerald had turned over the firearm. (118:5.) Kruckenberg then admitted he gave Gerald the gun the morning of January 6, and that Kruckenberg had stolen it from Delores's house. (118:11–12, 19.) And finally, when confronted with his messages with Lauren, Kruckenberg admitted that: (1) Lauren did not know he was going to shoot the baby; and (2) after he returned from the woods, he lied and said he gave Heather to Gerald's mother to take to an adoption agency. (118:38–40.)

Criminal proceedings and Kruckenberg's motion to suppress; the circuit court suppresses all statements from the Brodhead PD interview, the Albany woods, and the second interview at the Albany PD.

The State charged Kruckenberg with one count of firstdegree intentional homicide and one count of hiding or burying the corpse of a child. (2:1.)

Kruckenberg moved to suppress all of his statements to law enforcement, contending they were all custodial and impermissibly coerced. (83.) The circuit court held a multi-day hearing on the issue at which 11 law enforcement officers, Delores, and a defense-obtained psychologist, Dr. Brian Cutler, testified. (125; 127; 123; 132; 133; 148–150.) Videos of each of law enforcement's contacts with Kruckenberg were also played. (184–195.)

Regarding the first interview at Lauren's home and second interview at the Albany Police Department on January 9, the circuit court held that Kruckenberg was not in custody and gave voluntary statements. (196:9–16.)

Regarding the post-arrest interviews on January 10 and 11, the court concluded that though Kruckenberg was in custody, at both, law enforcement had read Kruckenberg his *Miranda* rights, Kruckenberg voluntarily waived them, and his statements were voluntary. (196:33–34.)

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