#### FILED 09-25-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

## IN SUPREME COURT

## Case No. 2023AP396-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

## Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

## LOGAN T. KRUCKENBERG ANDERSON,

Defendant-Respondent.

# **RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028 marionc@opd.wi.gov

### LUCAS SWANK

Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1103010 swankl@opd.wi.gov

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-3440

Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent

#

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

The court ruled that:

Because of the totality of the circumstances, the frequency of the interviews, the length of the interviews, the nature of the interview at the Brodhead station I think that I will find . . . that the nature of the questions were coercive, given we've changed from more conversational and investigation to making accusations and these appeals to I can help you. We can write up a report that shows you are cooperative. Let me hold your hand. Because of that I will direct that the statement made by the defendant at the Brodhead Police Department, at the crime scene, at the subsequent trip to the Albany Police Department will be suppressed. R.196:28-29; App.77-78.

The court also found, "due to the circumstances, the successive interviews here, the late hour, the totality of the circumstances, the nature of the questions that those statements were involuntary." R.196:35; App.84.

The court of appeals affirmed in-part and reversed in-part. *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 45, ¶93; App.48. The court of appeals reversed the circuit court's decision that any statements up until Pertzborn's "proper burial" comment were involuntary. *Id.*, ¶¶81-83; App.42-43. The court of appeals also reversed the circuit court's finding that the Brodhead interview was custodial up until the "proper burial" comment. *Id.*, ¶¶84-92; App.43-48.

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's suppression of all statements after Pertzborn's "proper burial" comment because "the numerous techniques used to attempt to elicit incriminating statements-in light of Kruckenberg's age-were coercive when considered together," *id.*, **¶63**; App.33, and "Pertzborn's interrogation techniques, when balanced with Kruckenberg's personal characteristics, overcame Kruckenberg's ability to resist pressures brought to bear on him in an unequal confrontation." *Id.*, ¶77; App.40.

After finding that Logan's statements following the proper burial comment were involuntary, the court declined to address whether Logan was in-custody for *Miranda* purposes after Pertzborn's "proper burial" comment. *Id.*, ¶84 n.13; App.44.<sup>11</sup>

The State petitions this Court to reweigh the totality of the circumstances and come to a different decision than the circuit court and court of appeals.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The law is well-settled and the State is asking this Court to correct what it claims were erroneous decisions.

There is no question what the law is or the legal principles that apply to determining whether statements are voluntary, and the State is simply asking this Court to issue a different decision. It is well-established that this Court is not an error-correcting court.<sup>12</sup> State v. Wiskowski, 2024 WI 23, ¶101, 412 Wis. 2d 185, 7 N.W.3d 474 (Ziegler, C.J., dissenting); see also State v. Gajewski, 2009 WI 22, ¶11, 316 Wis. 2d 1, 762 N.W.2d 104 (dismissing a petition for review as improvidently granted when the "review [was] more about error correction than law development").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> If this Court accepts review, Logan will both argue that his statements following the "proper burial" comment were involuntary and that he was in custody and the statements were obtained in violation of *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.62(3m)(b)1.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  The term "error correcting" is used to reference what the State is seeking, not an acknowledgement that the court of appeals did, in fact, err.

The parties and courts have agreed on the law at every stage of the proceedings. *See* R.83:15; R.151:23-24; R.153:75-77; R.196:5-7; App.54-56;

R.151:23-24; R.153:75-77; R.196:5-7; App.54-56; App. Br. at 33-36; Resp. Br. at 41-43; *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 45, ¶¶36-44; App.22-24; Pet. for Review at 17-19.

Yet, in asking this Court to review the confession, the State makes conclusory statements that the court of appeals' opinion "is in conflict with opinions of the United States Supreme Court, this Court, and other court of appeals' decisions." Pet. for Review at 7. The State does this by citing numerous cases for the proposition that a certain tactic was not deemed coercive in its own context, and arguing the same tactic can never be coercive. *See, e.g.* Pet. for Review at 19-23.

However, in order to make this point, the State ignores this Court's recent decision in *Vice*, where it noted the possibility that tactics, which might be permissible in isolation, could be coercive in the aggregate. *Vice*, 397 Wis. 2d 682, ¶48; *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 45, ¶41; App.23-24. In essence, the State takes issue with the outcome of the totality of the circumstances analysis.

Ironically, the State does what it often accuses the defense of—focusing on the legality of individual behaviors when the standard is totality of the circumstances. For example, in the Fourth Amendment context, it is well established that police can draw reasonable suspicion from purely innocent behaviors, and "[a]ny one of these facts, standing alone, might well be insufficient. But that is not the test we apply. We look to the totality of the facts taken together. The building blocks of fact accumulate." *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996). The same is true when analyzing the coercive pressures used by police during interrogation.

The court of appeals explicitly addressed the tactic the State now employs in its petition for review and held "that the numerous techniques used to attempt to elicit incriminating statements—in light of Kruckenberg's age—were coercive when considered together." *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 25, ¶63; App.33. The State's response is to mischaracterize the facts<sup>13</sup> as found by the circuit court and demonstrated by the record, and claim this case is nothing more than "five minutes of [police] reasonably, calmly imploring a 16 year old [sic] who is telling an extremely unbelievable story to tell the truth." Pet. for Review at 29.

# II. The court of appeals' opinion is not in conflict with other cases.

The court of appeals' opinion does not conflict with other cases and this Court should reject the State's attempt to manufacture discord in the law. Many of the arguments the State makes can be dispensed with using the argument above—that the

 $<sup>^{13}</sup>$  The State's factual mischaracterizations are discussed in-depth in Section III. *Infra* at 33-35.

totality of the circumstances test requires courts to consider all of the techniques used by police to determine whether or not police overbore an individual's will leading to an involuntary confession. *Vice*, 397 Wis. 2d 682, ¶48; *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 45, ¶41; App.23-24.<sup>14</sup>

The State argues that the court of appeals relied on a series of out-of-state cases where the facts of parental involvement were more extreme than here, and it either should not have considered Delores' involvement or that it was not coercive.<sup>15</sup> Regardless, two things are true: first, the court of appeals specifically noted it was not considering Delores' actions, but Pertzborn's decision to side with her and leverage her against Logan. *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 25, ¶55; App.29-30. Second, the court of appeals cited the out-of-state cases for a simple, singular

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The State makes the argument that specific tactics were deemed not coercive in *Vice*; *State v. Deets*, 187 Wis. 2d 630, 636, 523 N.W.2d 180 (Ct. App. 1994); *Etherly v. Davis*, 619 F.3d 654, 663 (7th Cir. 2010); *Fare v. Michael C.*, 442 U.S. 707, 727 (1979); *United States v. Miller*, 984 F.2d 1028, 1031–32 (9th Cir. 1993); *State v. Owen*, 202 Wis. 2d 620, 642, 551 N.W.2d 50 (Ct. App. 1996); *Dassey v. Dittmann*, 877 F.3d 297, 304 (7th Cir. 2017). Pet. for Review at 20, 23. Because the analysis must consider the use of *all* of the techniques together under these specific circumstances, the State cannot rely on these decisions to argue the law needs clarification.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The State's argument regarding these cases is not clear as it begins this section by saying "non-state actors such as juvenile's parents are not supposed to factor into the analysis" but then primarily argues that the cases are distinguishable. Pet. for Review at 24-26.

proposition—while the presence of a trusted adult may weigh in favor of voluntariness, there are times that will not be the case. *Id.*, ¶71; App.36-37. As such, whether the facts in those other cases were more egregious does not undermine the conclusion that adults may fail to act as a buffer between police and may be weaponized against juveniles being interrogated.

Beyond the State's failure to analyze the totality of the circumstances and overstating the court of appeals' reliance on out-of-state cases, the State cites two Wisconsin cases it claims the court of appeals' opinion is in conflict with— $Moore^{16}$  and Hauschultz.<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> State v. Moore, 2015 WI 54, 363 Wis. 2d 376, 864 N.W.2d 827.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> State v. Hauschultz, No. 2022AP161-CR (Ct. App. Mar. 13, 2024) (unpublished per curiam decision); App.160-89.

## A. State v. Moore.

The State spends several pages lamenting that "the court of appeals didn't explain why the outcome here is different from *Moore*." Pet. for Review at 20-23. It faults the court of appeals for "not even attempt[ing] to reconcile its opinion with that of this Court in *Moore*." *Id*. at 23. It notes how the court of appeals cited *Moore* only once in rejecting one of the State's arguments. *Id*. Ironically, that is once more than the State cited *Moore* in either its brief-in-chief or its reply in the court of appeals. *See* App. Br. at 4-6; Reply Br. at 2-3.

Regardless of the State's failure to argue the importance of this case below—given their supposed similarities—the facts are easily distinguishable from those presented here.

First, the State mischaracterizes the facts in *Moore*, by claiming there were two interviews lasting three hours or more. Pet. for Review at 20-21. The basic timeline in *Moore* is as follows:

12:49PM:	Moore is arrested.
2:49-4:02PM:	Moore is read <i>Miranda</i> and
	interrogated.
Break:	Moore is given sandwiches,
	chips, and water
4:30-6:00PM:	Moore is interrogated
Break	
8:28-8:39PM:	Moore is read <i>Miranda</i> and

	asked if he would take police
	to the crime scene.
Break:	Trip to the crime scene, Moore
	gives his version, return to
	station, Moore is given time to
	eat under police supervision
9:47-10:07PM:	Moore is interrogated.
Break	C C
10:20-11:44PM:	Moore is interrogated.

*Moore*, 363 Wis. 2d 376,  $\P\P12-43$ . Thus, Moore was never interrogated for more than 90 minutes without being given a break, and police ensured that he ate while in their custody.

Less concerning than misrepresenting the timeline, is the State's blinders to the difference between the cases. Logan's interactions with police began at 2:00AM on January 9<sup>th</sup> and the court of appeals held that police overbore his will at 1:02AM on January 10<sup>th</sup>. R.100; 190 | 1:02:34-1:02:42.

The police did not care whether or not Logan had eaten or slept—despite him saying he needed the latter. R.190|12:26:57-12:27:10; 115:15; App.100; *infra* at 35. The police also did not read Logan his *Miranda* rights as the police had in *Moore*. 363 Wis. 2d 376, ¶¶14, 25, 63.

The personal characteristics are also much different. Logan had "minimal prior experience with law enforcement." *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 25, ¶67; App.34-35. On the other hand, Moore had been arrested previously for multiple offenses—including a

felony—and said he was on probation for one of the charges. "Although Moore was only 15 years old at the time of his questioning, he had more experience with police and law enforcement than most people his age." *Moore*, 363 Wis. 2d 376, ¶¶59-60.

Moreover, what is missing from *Moore*—either the majority or the dissent—is any indication that police ever indicated that they were on Moore's side or made emotional or moral appeals akin to Pertzborn's comments about Logan having a soul and giving the child a proper burial. *Id.*, ¶¶55-65, 124; *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 25, ¶¶54-60; App.28-32; R.196:26; App.75.

Also missing from *Moore* is any indication that police employed any sort of "parental familiarity" as Pertzborn did. *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 25, ¶60; App.32; R.196:26-27; App.75-76. Moreover, police in *Moore* did not leverage an adult close to the juvenile to try and overcome his denials. *See, e.g. id.*, ¶55; App.29.

While there are some similarities between the interrogations here and in *Moore*, the State wholly fails to address that many of the tactics the court of appeals deemed coercive and led to Logan's involuntary statements did not occur in *Moore*. As such, there is no conflict between the two cases, such that this Court needs to provide clarity.

## B. State v. Hauschultz.

The State claims the court of appeals' opinion is also in conflict with *State v. Hauschultz*, which warrants review. Again, there is no conflict because as will usually be the case—each case relies on its own specific facts to reach its conclusion.

As with this case and *Moore*, *Hauschultz* involved a series of interviews. The first occurred in an empty hospital room and lasted about eight minutes. *Hauschultz*, No. 2022AP161-CR, ¶¶6-7; App.163. The second interview occurred at a police station beginning at 6:00PM and lasted roughly two and one-half hours. *Id.*, ¶9; App.163-64. During the second interview Hauschultz noted he had just learned in school about constitutional rights. *Id.*, ¶10; App.164. There was a third interview conducted thereafter. *Id.*, ¶23; App.168-69.<sup>18</sup>

In analyzing voluntariness of the first interview, the court of appeals noted that Hauschultz's arguments related to the first interrogation were simply that he was separated from his parent—by their agreement—and the officer was armed. *Id.*,  $\P$  54, 56; App.179-80. The court also noted that interrogation was found to be a "comfortable, calm, quick discussion" and police did not "repeatedly accuse

 $<sup>^{18}</sup>$  The statements in the third interrogation were not analyzed for voluntariness, as the court held the information was largely duplicative and would not have affected the defendant's decision to plea even if suppressed. *Id.*, ¶78; App.187.

Hauschultz of lying or otherwise attempt to wear down his defenses using psychologically coercive tactics." *Id.*, ¶59; App.180-81.

The second interrogation was described as being in a "comfortable room with furniture" including a couch. *Id.*, ¶62; App.182. "[T]he conversation was congenial, calm and at times even lively as Hauschultz described his family, school, extracurricular activities and living arrangements." *Id.*, ¶63; App.182. While long, "there were breaks in excess of ten minutes" and Hauschultz was offered and accepted coffee several times. *Id.*, ¶64; App.182.

According to the court of appeals opinion, Hauschultz's only argument regarding voluntariness "the was that interview was the classic 'incommunicado interrogation' that the Miranda court described as 'destructive of human dignity." Id., ¶69 (citing Miranda, 384 U.S. at 457); App.183-84. According to the court of appeals, "Hauschultz appears to contend that the coercion required to establish involuntariness is created by the mere fact that an interview occurred at a police department." Id., ¶70 n.12; App.184.

Whatever the validity of the court of appeals' characterization of Hauschultz's arguments,<sup>19</sup> there is nothing in the opinion that conflicts with this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Notably, amici who participated directed most of their briefs toward the third interview, that the court did not analyze. *Id.*, ¶46 n.9; App.176. This suggests that the court's characterization is likely not far off.

Simply put, the description of police conduct is almost non-existent in *Hauschultz*; here the court of appeals devoted ten paragraphs to discussing coercive tactics. *Kruckenberg*, 2024 WI App 25, ¶¶53-62; App.28-33. No reasonable person would read the two opinions and be confused over what the law is or how to apply it.

None of the cases cited by the State are in tension with the court of appeals' opinion here. Without anything to clarify in the law, this Court should decline to review the matter further.

# III. The State ignores the standard of review and mischaracterizes the facts.

In its petition, the State repeatedly makes factual assertions contrary to the circuit court's findings and the record, while not acknowledging the deferential standard of review.

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